IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE DEC: 18 1990

CLERK, AUPREME COURT **Deputy Clerk** 

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 77,006

WILLIAM DUKES,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 327832 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/aoh

#

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
CERTIFIED QUESTION4
WHEN A DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION IS ALLEGED BASED ON THE CRIMES OF SALE AND POSSESSION (OR POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO SELL) OF THE SAME QUANTUM OF CONTRABAND AND THE CRIMES OCCURRED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF SECTION 775.021, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), IS IT IMPROPER TO CONVICT AND SENTENCE FOR BOTH CRIMES?
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

- i -

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO.

<u>Carawan v. State</u> , 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987)3, 4
<u>Crisel v. State,</u> 561 So.2d 453 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)5
Daudt v. State, 368 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 376 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1979)9
<u>Davis v. State</u> , 560 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)5
<u>McIntyre v. State</u> , 564 So.2d 243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)5
Portee v. State, 392 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), approved, 447 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1984)9
<u>St. Fabre v. State</u> , 548 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)5
<u>State v. Burton</u> , 555 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989)3, 4
<u>State v. Daophin</u> , 533 So.2d 761, 762 (Fla. 1988)9
<u>State v. Smith, Gordon, et. al.</u> , 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989)2, 3, 4
<u>State v. Parker</u> , 551, So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1989)3
<u>V.A.A. v. State</u> , 561 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)2

# OTHER AUTHORITIES

Section	775.021, Florida Statutes (1988)5, 10
Section	775.021(4), Florida Statutes10
Section	893.13(1)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1987),5
Section	893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes (1987)5
Chapter	88-131, Section 74

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant before the trial court and the Petitioner was the prosecution. The parties will be referred by their proper names or as they appeared before the trial court. The record on appeal consists of one (1) volume and will be referred to by the letter "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 28, 1989, the State Attorney for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit in and for Lee County, Florida filed an information charging the defendant, William Dukes, with sale and possession of cocaine. The offenses occurred on August 18, 1989 (R. 9). On February 5, 1990, the defendant moved to dismiss one of the charges based on double jeopardy; and the State and Court contended that the Gordon v. State, 528 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) decision did not apply after the July 1, 1988, amendment to the statute. The trial court denied the defendant's motion and the defendant entered a plea of no contest, preserving his dispositive motion. He was then placed on 5 years concurrent probation on each charge in accordance with the plea and guidelines (R. 1-8, 13,-17, 22-24). The defendant filed a Notice of Appeal on February 7, 1990. (R. 18).

On November 21, 1990, the Second District Court affirmed the defendant's conviction and sentence for one count of sale of cocaine and vacated the defendant's conviction and sentence for possession of cocaine on the authority of <u>V.A.A. v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Appendix).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in dismissing the possession of cocaine charge in this case. The Information charged the defendant with sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine which occurred after July 1, 1988. Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 1987), is applicable to crimes occurring before (Fla. the effective date of chapter 88-131, section 7, Laws of Florida, but not to crimes occurring after that date. State v. Parker, 551 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1989); State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). The effective date of chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida, is July 1, 1988. Carawan has been overridden for offenses occurring after July 1, 1988, the effective date of Chapter 88-131, Section 7. As recognized by this Court in State v. Burton, 555 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989), the amended statute makes sale and possession of the same substance separate offenses subject to separate convictions and punishments.

#### CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHEN A DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION IS ALLEGED BASED ON THE CRIMES OF SALE AND POSSESSION (OR POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO SELL) OF THE SAME QUANTUM OF CONTRABAND AND THE CRIMES OCCURRED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF SECTION 775.021, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), IS IT IMPROPER TO CONVICT AND SENTENCE FOR BOTH CRIMES?

In State v. Smith, Gordon, et. al., 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989) this Court held that the decision in Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) has been overridden for offenses that occurred after the effective date of Chapter 88-131, section 7, i.e., July 1, 1988. Section 775.021, Florida Statutes (1988). Accordingly, Carawan does not apply to the offenses which occurred on August 18, 1989, and separate convictions are appropriate for both sale and possession of cocaine. In amending section 775.021(4), the legislature declared the crimes of possession and sale of an illegal drug separate offenses. In fact, in State v. Burton, 555 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1989) this Court noted that Smith (547 So.2d 613), held that the amended statute makes sale and possession of the same substance separate offenses subject to separate convictions and punishments.

The First District Court, the Fifth District Court, and Second District Judge Parker have authored opinions which have concluded that there is no double jeopardy bar to dual convictions for both sale and possession of the same contraband. In <u>St. Fabre v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the court found that possession of cocaine and sale of cocaine constitute separate offenses for double jeopardy purposes, even

- 4 -

when they are both predicated on the same act or transaction. Sub judice, as in St Fabre, the defendant was charged with violating two separate subsections of the statute and, since possession of cocaine is not a necessarily lesser included offense of sale of the same cocaine, his double jeopardy claim In Davis v. State, 560 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 5th DCA must fail. 1990), the Fifth District Court affirmed the defendant's conviction and sentence for two statutory offenses: possession of a controlled substance (a third degree felony under Section 893.13(1)(f)), and delivery of a controlled substance (a second degree felony under Section 893.13(1)(a)(1)). In Davis, the Appellant, pursuant to a negotiated drug deal, handed an undercover officer one piece of crack cocaine and in Davis, the court recognized that possession is not required for a sale and a sale is not required to possess contraband. See also, McIntyre v. State, 564 So.2d 243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) [Because the sale and possession of the controlled substance occurred on July 1, 1988, the effective date of Chapter 88-131, section 7, Laws of Florida, Appellant can be separately convicted of both offenses.] In fact, in Carawan, this Court recognized that:

". . . Sale of drugs can constitute a separate crime from possession. . ."

#### Id. at 176.

In <u>Crisel v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 453 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), Judge Parker's concurring opinion sets forth a detailed analysis supporting his conclusion that there <u>can</u> be dual convictions for

- 5 -

both the sale and possession of the same illegal drug under the amended statute, 775.021. In his concurring opinion, Judge Parker notes, in pertinent part:

". . . I perceive the court's rationale in <u>V.A.A.</u> to be that a possession charge is always subsumed into a charge of sale based upon section 775.021(4)(b)(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988). I disagree. As our supreme court unanimously recognized in <u>State</u> v. Burton, 555 So.2d 1210 (Fla. 1990):

We held, in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), which applied chapter 88-131, section 7, Laws of Florida, that the legislature intended the following to be separate offenses subject to separate convictions and separate punishments: the sale or delivery of a controlled substance; and possession of the substance with intent to sell. We also held that although chapter 88-131 overrode <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), nevertheless, it is not to be applied retroactively.

Burton, 555 So.2d at 1211 (footnote omitted.) Therefore, I think the supreme court has recognized that the amended statute has overturned the <u>Carawan</u> court's analysis of double jeopardy and that pursuant to the amended statute, there now can be convictions for both the sale and possession of the same illegal drug.

The Florida Standard Jury Instruction strengthens my position.

\*

\*

\*

Nowhere is the element of possession listed as an element in the crime of sale.

\*

Likewise, <u>nowhere</u> is the element of sale listed as an element of the crime of possession.

\*

×

I would first note the legislature's following language in both acts:

\*

For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

If a court cannot look to the proof to determine if the defendant can suffer multiple punishments, it seems to me that any scenario in which a defendant can be found guilty of sale and not guilty of possession of the same drug defeats the rationale of V.A.A.

This court, in Elias v. State, 301 So.2d 111 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), cert. denied, 312 So.2d 746 (Fla. 1975), without any Blockburger analysis, recognized that a defendant, after receiving a verdict of acquittal from the court on a possession of heroin charge, can still be found guilty of sale of heroin, without any proof that the defendant ever posses the heroin. This court found the evidence legally sufficient to convict the defendant as an aider and abetter of the Such a holding appears inconsistent sale. with this court's conclusion in V.A.A. that the elements of possession are subsumed by the elements of sale.

\*

\*

\*

The Fifth District recently acknowledged conflict with V.A.A. in <u>Davis v. State</u>, No. 89-1064 (Fla. 5th DCA April 5, 1990) [15 F.L.W. D880], and adopts my position that a delivery or a sale of an illegal drug can be accomplished without a possession of that drug. In reaching that position, the fifth district looked to a decision from this court and stated:

But consider an actual case, Daudt v. State, 368 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979) <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 376 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1979) in which the court found that a sale was accomplished without possession. In Daudt the defendant was convicted of sale and possession of marijuana. The defendant had, at the request of a prospective buyer (an undercover police officer), made a phone call to his "source' to obtain marijuana. Defendant and the undercover officer then drove to another location where they met "Mike". The defendant assured "Mike" that the money was right and, at Mike's insistence, remained as a lookout while Mike took the officer to the location of the marijuana. The sale went down and the arrest was made.

The Daudt court held:

There is no evidence whatsoever that appellant ever had actual possession or control of the marijuana. Nor was constructive possession established. Although appellant knew of the presence of marijuana, the there is no evidence that it belonged to or was under the control of the appellant. At best, the evidence establishes that appellant brought the parties to the transaction together and expected to be paid for such service.

• • •

Appellant aided and abetted [Mike] in selling the marijuana, but not in possessing it. [Mike] already possessed the marijuana; there is no showing that appellant was of any help to [Mike] in either acquiring it or retaining of possession it. On the contrary, appellant aided [Mike] in divesting himself of it.

Daudt at 53-54.

Davis, 15 F.L.W. at D881

The bottom line of my reasoning is that the legislature, in amending section 775.021(4), has declared the crimes of possession and sale of an illegal drug separate offenses, without regard to the indictment or information and without regard to the proof offered at trial. Therefore, all analyses of double jeopardy questions must be made by a side-by-side comparison of the elements of the two crimes in question. If this comparison of the two crimes reflects that each offense contains an element that the other does not, then there is no double jeopardy unless the exceptions apply which are listed in section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988). If none of the three exceptions under that section apply, then there can be two convictions and two sentences for the two crimes. . "

> <u>Crisel</u>, concurring opinion, Parker, J.

In Portee v. State, 392 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), approved, 447 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1984), the Court specifically stated that possession is not an essential aspect of sale, and in Daudt v. State, 368 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), cert. denied, 376 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1979), the Court reversed a conviction for possession of marijuana for insufficient evidence, but let stand a conviction for sale of the same drug. In addition, it is not a necessary element of delivery that the State prove possession, State v. Daophin, 533 So.2d 761, 762 (Fla. 1988). Separate evils have been addressed in the legislature's proscriptions in §893.13, Florida Statutes. The statutory provision prohibiting possession of a controlled substance is aimed at punishing the individual possessor for his criminal activity which does not involve directly or necessarily persons other than the Sale necessarily includes the involvement of the perpetrator. citizens and the legislature has a legitimate interest in

- 9 -

punishing not only those who engage in private, personal illegal conduct, but who also seek to include the participation of others in the society in proscribed conduct. Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, provides that whoever commits several offenses shall be sentenced separately for each. Offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not "without regard to the pleading or the prove adduced at trial."

In Dukes v. State, 464 So.2d 582, (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the Court clearly demonstrated that possession and sale have separate elements and the state may have conviction for both even if the same drugs are involved. The state recognizes that the court receded from Dukes in Gordon v. State, 528 So.2d 910 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), approved sub nom., State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989). But, the recision from Dukes was solely a product of which is only controlling for crimes that happened Carawan before the effective date of chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida. Since the crimes at issue in this case do not fall into the Carawan window, the reason for the court's receding from en banc Dukes no longer apply and it should be considered good law.

Since sale does not necessarily include the element of possession, separate convictions and sentences are appropriate. Pursuant to §775.021, in the absence of an applicable exception, a defendant who commits an act which constitutes more than one offense shall, where each offense requires prove of an element that the other does not, be convicted and sentenced for each offense. The legislature may permissibly decide to punish separately those who seek to involve other persons in illegal activity as well as those who individually engage in proscribed conduct. Accordingly, the Second District Court erred in concluding that the double jeopardy clause would be violated by virtue of dual convictions for both sale and possession of cocaine.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, this Honorable Court should reverse the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal, approve the rationale set forth by Judge Parker, and the First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, and clearly authorize dual convictions for both the sale and possession of contraband.