047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 :
 Petitioner, :
 :
 vs. :
 :
 WILLIAM DUKES, :
 :
 Respondent. :
 _____ :

Case No. 77,006

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 24 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Deputy Clerk

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA
SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office
Polk County Courthouse
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD
Bartow, FL 33830
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, WILLIAM DUKES, accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Convictions for both sale of one rock of cocaine and possession of that same rock cannot be sustained as such a result violates the double jeopardy provisions of the United States and Florida Constitutions. A strict Blockburger analysis demonstrates that possession is a lesser of sale; the rule of lenity--which must be applied when there is doubt--requires a finding that possession is a lesser of sale; or the legislature has violated constitutional provisions of due process and double jeopardy with its recent legislative amendment to section 775.021, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), and such amendment must be stricken.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHEN A DOUBLE JEOPARDY VIOLATION IS ALLEGED BASED ON THE CRIMES OF SALE AND POSSESSION (OR POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO SELL) OF THE SAME QUANTUM OF CONTRABAND AND THE CRIMES OCCURRED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE SECTION 775.021, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1988), IS IT IMPROPER TO CONVICT AND SENTENCE FOR BOTH CRIMES?

Petitioner's contention that by amending Florida Statute 775.021 (4) [Chapter 88-131] the legislature declared the crimes of possession and sale of an illegal drug to be separate offenses. If the legislature had specifically done so, in clear and ambiguous language, the instant case would not be before this court. But by including an exception for "subsumed" offenses,¹ the legislature still left open the question of whether a possession charge is "subsumed" by a charge for the contemporaneous sale of the same substance. The Second District held in its opinion in the instant case that the crimes of sale and possession committed by Respondent after July 1, 1988, fell within the exception for "subsumed" offenses; therefore, Respondent could only be convicted of and sentenced for the crime of sale.

In coming to this conclusion the Second District Court of Appeal upheld its analysis of the elements of possession and sale that it set forth in Gordon v. State, 528 So.2d 910 at 912-914:

¹(4)(b)(3). Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

In order for the crimes to be separate we must find that each crime contains an element not contained within the other. Id. We begin our discussion with the possession element of these two crimes. A defendant cannot be convicted of either crime unless he is deemed, at law, to have had some sort of possession of the contraband. As to the crime of sale, a defendant need not be the actual possessor of the contraband although such actual possession will naturally result in criminal sanctions as in the instant case. The possessory element can be shared by others legally responsible for the crime. For example, a person acting as a go-between or broker may arrange for or be the moving force in the sale of contraband, yet never have either actual nor constructive possession of the contraband. In such a case, the act of the seller who has actual possession of the contraband becomes the act of the broker. The broker is deemed to have the same possession as the seller and can be convicted as a principal of the crime of sale under Chapter 777, Florida Statutes. As to the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell, we need not elaborate on the obvious, to wit, possession is an element of this crime. In the case before us, then where there is no question of a broker or others involved in the crime charged, but rather a single act with a single defendant, we conclude that the first element of the crime of sale of contraband as well as the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell contraband is possession.

We turn now to the next element, intent. All criminal behavior requires proof of criminal intent, the means rea, which serves to distinguish such behavior from accidental (noncriminal) behavior or negligent behavior. See generally W. LaFave and A. Scott, Substantive Criminal Law section 3.5(e) (1986). There is no question that the intent element in the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell is "intent to sell." Regarding the crime of sale, we discern also that the intent there is "intent to sell" because a person will not (or cannot) voluntarily effectuate a sale without desiring such result. "[A] man is to be taken to intend what he does, or that which is the necessary and natural consequence of his own act." R. Perkins, Perkins on Criminal Law 748

(2d ed. 1969), citing Harrison v. Commonwealth, 79 Va. 374, 377 (1884). We conclude, therefore, that the two crimes at issue here so far involve the same two elements: possession and intent. This is the point where the similarity between these two crimes ends.

The sum of the elements of the crimes of possession-with-intent-to-sell is two (2): the state must merely prove the defendant (a) possessed the contraband with (b) the intent to sell it. The crime of sale of contraband contains these two elements plus a third. This third element is the actual sale as defined in Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases (1987 ed.), page 219: "'sell' means to transfer or deliver something to another person in exchange for money or something of value or a promise of money or something of value." It will be evident that in contrasting the component elements of these two crimes that in proving the elements of sale, the prosecution cannot also help but prove the elements of possession-with-intent-to-sell. Two of our sister courts have reached this same conclusion. Fletcher v. State, 428 So.2d 667 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 430 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1983) (a pre-Carawan decision), and Smith v. State, No. 87-0007 (Fla. 4th DCA Apr. 13, 1988) [13 F.L.W. 925], (a post-Carawan decision). The fourth district in Smith has acknowledged conflict on this question with our own pre-Carawan opinion in Dukes v. State, 464 So.2d 582 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

To the extent Dukes conflicts with Carawan, it, or course, does not survive. Dukes noted that the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell does not include the element of sale. This is indeed true as we have concluded in the instant case. Our analysis in Dukes was correct so far as it went, but it was, as we learn in Carawan, incomplete. In Dukes we failed to continue on to the next step to delineate the unique element that the crime of possession-with-intent-to-sell contraband has that the crime of sale of contraband does not. Without this further inquiry the Blockburger analysis was incomplete as it regarded these two crimes. A complete Blockburger inquiry would have revealed that the crime of posses-

sion-with-intent-to-sell contained no element not also contained within the crime of sale. Dukes was correct, however, in its disposition of the third case discussed in the opinion, 464 So.2d at 584 (Case No. 83-2369), because the factual circumstances showed that the appellant had placed a baggie or marijuana in a nearby window--thus committing the crime of possession marijuana with intent to sell--just after selling a completely different baggie of marijuana to a passenger in a passing car. Thus, the two crimes were predicated upon separate acts and the appellant was then properly convicted and punished for both. In summary, that part of Dukes finding no double jeopardy violation for two crimes predicated upon a single act, relying on the incomplete Blockburger test, is no longer viable after Carawan; thus, we today recognize the primacy of Carawan and find ourselves in harmony with our colleagues in the first and fourth districts on this issue.

The important aspect of this portion of the opinion is that the Second District Court of Appeal found possession to be an essential element of both sale and possession with intent to sell. In this day of convictions established by conspiracies and hearsay statements in which defendants are convicted and sentenced as principals even though they may never have actually touched the drugs or seen the drugs, or been near the drugs, it is impossible to imagine a situation where a defendant would be guilty of sale and not possession. With the aider and abettor section under principals and conspiracy exceptions to the hearsay rule, the concept of possession becomes much broader.

In addition, the State's argument that separate evils are being addressed by these two charges because possessing with intent to sell is aimed at punishing the individual while sale involves the participation of others is an argument that also cannot be

supported by factual examples. Possession with intent to sell must necessarily include the prospect of others being involved eventually or the charge would just be simple possession; and with police undercover operations, there are legions of cases where defendants sold--as in Gordon's case--to an undercover officer. That type of sale did not involve the arrest of anyone else.

As can be seen from the Gordon decision, the situation of sale and possession with intent to sell the same substance fits the Blockburger test--even under a strict analysis. If there is any doubt, however, the rule of lenity must be applied. This is true in spite of the legislature's recent changes to the rules of construction as set forth in section 775.021, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988).

Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987), only applies the rule of lenity when legislative intent cannot be determined and is equivocal on the issue of multiple punishments. It is a rule of last resort based not only on Florida's statutes but also on our common law. As pointed out in Carawan, Id. at 165, 166:

The third rule is that courts must resolve all doubts in favor of lenity toward the accused. This "rule of lenity," a part of our common law, has been codified in section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1985):

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorable to the accused.

The United States Supreme Court, interpreting the federal rule of lenity, has characterized it as

a principle of statutory construction which applies not only to interpretations of the substantive ambit of criminal prohibitions, but also to the penalties they impose. Quoting Ladner v. United States, 358 U.S. 169, 178, 79 S.Ct. 209, 214, 3 L.Ed.2d 199 (1958), we stated: "'This policy of lenity means that the Court will not interpret a federal criminal statute so as to increase the penalty that it places on an individual when such an interpretation can be based on no more than a guess as to what Congress intended.'"

Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 342, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 1144, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981) (citation omitted). Our prior decisions also have described Florida's own rule of lenity as:

a fundamental rule of statutory construction, i.e., that criminal statutes shall be construed strictly in favor of the person against whom a penalty is to be imposed. Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979). We have held that "'nothing that is not clearly and intelligently described in [a penal statute's] very words, as well as manifestly intended by the Legislature, is to be considered as included within its terms.'" State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605, 608 (Fla. 1977), quoting Ex Parte Amos, 93 Fla. 5, 112 So. 289 (1927).

Palmer v. State, 438 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1983).

Quite simply, if the courts cannot determine whether or not the legislature intended multiple punishments, then all doubts must be resolved in favor of the defendant. It would be a violation of due process to deprive a person of his liberty on the basis of pure guesswork in trying to determine legislative intent. And if the courts cannot determine legislative intent, how is the individual supposed to be aware of the legal consequences and possible

punishments for his acts? Doubts that directly affect an individual's liberty must be resolved in favor of the defendant.

The State argues and the majority in State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989), appears to conclude that the recent statutory changes in section 775.021 are a direct result of the legislature's dissatisfaction with Carawan and clearly states that the rule of lenity is not to be applied. If this is, indeed, the legislative intent of the changes to section 775.021, then the legislature's attempt to do away with the rule of lenity must be held unconstitutional as it violates due process. To do away with the rule of lenity would, in effect, require the law to be that any doubts on multiple punishments must be resolved in favor of the State. The State is entitled to no such presumption. The United States and Florida constitutions reject such a concept.

It is to be questioned, however, whether the new statute changes actually do try to eliminate the rule of lenity. The new changes try to restate a Blockburger test for what is the same criminal offense, but the courts will still be left with questions on legislative intent on a case-by-case basis. The general language set forth in section 775.021(4)(b) will not cure the problems discussed in Carawan, and the courts will be back to trying to figure out legislative intent in the absence of clear statutory language and in situations where the Blockburger test reaches absurd results. In spite of the legislature's desire not to use the rule of lenity, the courts have no other options when patchwork statutes leave all in the dark.

Should this court disagree and find the new statute to have done away with the rule of lenity, then the new rule should be found unconstitutional as in violation of due process and double jeopardy. The due process problems have already been discussed; and the double jeopardy problems would arise when, as in the case sub judice, the State tries to obtain multiple convictions and sentences for crimes arising from a single act. The legislature may have the power to delineate crime and punishment, but this power is limited by the double jeopardy provision of the United States Constitution.

In Carawan, 515 So.2d at 164, Justice Barkett noted that the Court was not reaching the constitutional issue of double jeopardy where "the legislature clearly, unambiguously and precisely stated an intent to punish the exact same offense under separate statutory provision...." The Court did not reach this issue because it was able to decide the case on statutory constructions. The Smith, supra, decision, however, makes it clear that legislative intent is to do away with the Carawan analysis and to impose multiple punishments for one act. If this Court continues to uphold its opinion in Smith, then it must reach the constitutional issues forced upon it by the legislature's amendment. Justice Barkett's dissent in Smith, 547 So.2d at 621, 622, should be adopted by this Court:

I would hold that the rule of lenity arises not merely from section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1987), but also from the common law and the due process and double jeopardy clauses of the Florida Constitution. The rule of lenity, simply stated, is that the courts must

decline to impose a punishment that has not plainly and unmistakably been authorized by the legislature. Carawan 515 So.2d at 165; Palmer v. State, 438 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1983); Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979); State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605, 608 (Fla. 1977); Ex Parte Amos, 93 Fla. 5, 112 So. 289 (1927). Accord Ball v. United States, 470 U.S. 856, 105 S.Ct. 1668, 84 L.Ed.2d 740 (1985); Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 342, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 1144, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981); Prince v. United States, 352 U.S. 322, 77 S.Ct. 403, 1 L.Ed.2d 370 (1957). This is the very heart of due process and the guarantee against double jeopardy.

Under the due process clause, the government is strictly bound to adhere to forms and procedures designed to achieve justice. When there is no reasonable basis for ascertaining the intent of the legislature to impose multiple punishments, the statutes in question must be strictly construed against the government. Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const. Accord Albernaz, 450 U.S. at 342, 101 S.Ct. at 1144; Prince, 352 U.S. at 322, 77 S.Ct. at 403.

Under the double jeopardy clause, the government is forbidden from punishing a person twice for the same offense. As we recognized in Carawan, the Florida double jeopardy clause was designed as much to prevent multiple punishments as multiple trials for the same offense. Carawan, 515 So.2d at 164; art. I, § 9, Fla. Const. Accordingly, there is, and must be, a limit to the number of offenses that may be charged when a person commits only a single criminal act. A "strict Blockburger" analysis affords no limiting principle at all, since it theoretically can result in a person's being charged with a dozen, a hundred, or a thousand offenses based on a single criminal act.

As noted by Justice Barkett in her concluding remarks in her dissent in Smith, "the analysis employed in Carawan arises from article I, section 9, of the Florida Constitution, and remains in force notwithstanding the 1988 amendments to section 775.021." The

Second District Court of Appeal's conclusion that a defendant cannot be convicted for both crimes of sale and possession arising from one act must be upheld.